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for Western Union, a railroad, and grain
and livestock exchanges."®
Stefan traveled to the Philippine Is-

lands, embroiled in civil unrest, in 1904.

He joined the telegraphy division of the
American-backed, Philippine constabu-
lary and worked as a journalist for the
Manila Times, owned by former Nebras-
kan George Sellner. During his South-
east Asian travels, the future broad-
caster observed radio communications
through frequent visits to a naval wire-
less outpost in Cavite, P.1.'°

After touring portions of Asia, the
Middle East, and Europe, the Nebraska
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globetrotter returned to the states, and
in January 1907 Stefan married Ida
Rosenbaum of Omaha, his childhood
sweetheart. The couple moved to Se-
attle, Washington, where the new groom
worked as a commercial wire operator
and longshoreman, but family obliga-
tions forced the couple back to Ne-
braska. Stefan worked briefly for the
Omaha Bee, and left the newspaper in
1809 to join the Norfolk Daily News as a
wire telegrapher. He transcribed and re-
wrote AP copy, and eventually occu-
pied the city editor's desk. During World
War | the seasoned telegrapher taught
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code classes to Signal Corps members
at the Norfolk Federal Building.?

By the 1920s the medium of broad-
casting led him to a new challenge. On
Wednesday afternoon, September 13,
1922, Stefan broadcast the “first official
sending program” on WJAG's 100-watt
transmitter. The station’s first announcer
delivered grain markets and “news
flashes.” The News listed three daily re-
ports, Monday through Saturday at 12:15
P.M., 3:30 P.M., and 5:30 P.M. on 360
meters (833 kilocycles), as a “temporary
schedule until enough cards come in in-
dicating what changes should be made.”
The era of instant communication for
“radio fans” had arrived in Norfolk at
the “World's Greatest Country Daily
Broadcasting Station."?

WIJAG offered its listeners a varied
program in 1922: a routine agenda of
news and information at noon and an ir-
regular schedule of local entertainment.
Two days after Stefan’s initial newscasts,
the News invited its readers to “listen in”
to WJAG. Reception reports suggested
the new station exhibited favorable
modulation with a signal radius of more
than 100 miles. In its first week, “The
News broadcasting station” presented
reports from northeast Nebraska county
fairs. WJAG's firm connection to its cre-
ator was noted in a September listener
solicitation: “The News wants to hear
from all wireless fans who are picking
up ‘WJAG’ in order to work out a sched-
ule which will be of service to all radio
fans in north Nebraska and southern
South Dakota, that territory which is cov-
ered by the circulation of the News."®

A WIAG historical pamphlet states
that its first broadcast facilities consisted
of “a cramped, black-draped studio,
with part-time talent and personnel.” A
news desk, piano, control panel, and mi-
crophone occupied the small second
floor studio in the News building, which
Stefan dubbed a “cubby hole.” Stefan's
daughter, Ida Mae Askren, who watched
her father advance from city editor to
broadcaster, described the studio as a
“makeshift arrangement of loose boards,
unfinished like the unused part of an old
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Meanwhile, the public wanted to
know more about Stefan's sidekick. By
December 1924 the Printer’s Devil re-
ceived candy and inquiries for his physi-
cal description from female listeners, re-
quests for photographs, and an invita-
tion to date Plainview, Nebraska,
women seeking companionship. The ra-
dio family cake baker, Grace Peterson
of Neligh, presented WJAG with a devil's
food cake especially prepared for the
Printer’s Devil. At the 1925 Boone
County Fair in Albion nearly 10,000 per-
sons applauded Stefan, introduced as
“Karl Stefan,” with shouts of, “Where’s
the printer’s devil?” The local hoopla
soared to musical heights with the
Printer's Devil Orchestra, which ap-
peared on WJAG in 1925 and 1928.#
WIJAG listeners not only responded to
an imaginary radio character but also
to Stefan’s broadcast performances. A
poem dedicated to Stefan, composed
by a WJAG listener and printed in a
1925 issue of Radio Digest, read in part:

We have listened to announcers

From the East and from the West,

But Stefan, who lives in Norfolk,
Is just about the best.#2

By the late 1920s Stefan assumed the
identity of the radio sidekick, whom he
shaped into a local broadcast icon. The
Omaha Bee-News identified Stefan in
1928 as the “Printer's Devil.” By 1932 the
WIAG 12:15 P.M. news was conducted
by “Karl Stefan, the Printer's Devil.”#

In 1924 WIAG listeners discovered in-
novative reception apparatus. John
Nelson of Ericson, Nebraska, captured
WIJAG broadcasts with a tube and radio
dials mounted on a man’s derby hat. A
Norfolk hospital patient listened to
WJAG on a crystal receiver through the
aid of a bed-spring aerial, and a Winside,
Nebraska, man found that a pair of
damp socks dangling from a clothesline
antenna fetched an improved WIAG sig-
nal on his three-tube radio.*

Apart from the novelty of local
broadcasting, farm segments of WJAG's
audience believed that radio eased ru-
ral isolation and kept them informed
with timely information. Farm families,

isolated for days by winter's fury, used
WIAG as a link to the outside world. In
January 1924 Herman Bierman, a snow-
bound Battle Creek, Nebraska, farmer,
who hadn’t seen mail delivery for sev-
eral days, depended on WJAG news bul-
letins. That same year, the Norfolk sta-
tion served as a radio companion for a
rural resident facing the effects of heavy
snow in western lowa, and a farmer
southwest of Columbus regularly moni-
tored WJAG weather reports to alert his
neighbors of pending winter storms. A
South Dakota farmer, who consistently
monitored WJAG’s noontime market
broadcasts, concluded that “with radio,
gravel roads and automobiles, the

Bentz and several other Norfolk residents
confined to their homes with physical
disabilities. By late November a shut-in
fund accumulated $1,300, the equivalent
of thirty-four receivers for homebound
listeners in the WJAG territory.*

Bentz described her free receiver as
a “2 tube set with one set of ear phones.
I used to listen to Norfolk during the day
and Omaha and Lincoln during the
evening.” The drive for shut-in appara-
tus netted $370 during the 1926 World
Series. Nearly twenty businesses in
northeast Nebraska and South Dakota,
and three public institutions, Lutheran
Hospital in Norfolk, Norfolk State Hospi-
tal, and the Cedar County Courthouse in

“We have listened to announcers
From the East and from the West,
But Stefan, who lives in Norfolk,
Is just about the best.”

farmer at last, is getting the greatest en-
joyment out of life.” WJAG’s service to
the rural community, Radio Digest ob-
served in 1926, “eliminated distance
and brought scattered house-holders
into a neighborly community.”#

WIAG not only eased the isolation of
farmers but also that of shut-ins. The re-
creation of World Series games on WJAG
in 1922 and 1923 produced a shower of
gifts at the Norfolk studio. Listeners sent
Stefan, who produced the yearly reenact-
ments, candy and cigars. Rather than
surround him with future gifts from ap-
preciative listeners, the station steered
the generosity of its listeners toward
charity. During the 1924 broadcast Stefan
announced that the radio family
“crippled girl,” a baseball fan, was too
poor to buy a radio. To provide local
shut-in Marie Bentz with a home re-
ceiver, he suggested listeners send pen-
nies to WJAG. The appeal produced suf-
ficient funds in one day to buy radios for
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Hartington, collected donations from lis-
teners who congregated near radios for
Stefan'’s reenactments. By November
1928 more than 150 radios had been dis-
tributed to area shut-ins. ¥

For the first four months of 1924
WIJAG continued its routine schedule of
two newscasts, Monday through Satur-
day at 12:15 and 5:30, but abandoned
the latter report in May. For the next
four years the noon news, expanded to
nearly an hour, acted as the station’s
sole, continuously scheduled daytime
broadcast. To inform listeners of impor-
tant announcements outside its daily
broadcast hour, the station activated its
transmission apparatus, as needed, for
brief weather and news bulletins. The
“emergency hour,” inaugurated in No-
vember 1924, was broadcast at 9:00
AM, 3:00 P.M,, and 5:30 P.M 4

In 1924 WJAG experimented with pro-
grams from a remote studio at the Nor-
folk American Legion building. The
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News stated that “it is the intention of
WIJAG to broadcast concerts by talent
from area towns in the Norfolk district.”
Among the first remote broadcasts was
an Easter concert, which featured the
Grace Lutheran Church choir. The re-
mote facility, operated primarily on Sun-
day afternoons and Wednesday eve-
nings, accommodated large perfor-
mances and live audiences. In May 1924
nearly 100 persons attended a perfor-
mance of the Bloomfield, Nebraska,
band and choral society, and Harry
King’s Orchestra entertained listeners
with a remote program of dinner music.*

Aside from the promotional value of
opening a remote facility, the first hint of
accepting outside funds to cover broad-
cast expenses appeared in an April 1924
edition of the News: “Several Norfolk
business houses are now planning to
sponsor special radio concerts from this
station.” A year later WJAG continued its
broadcast advertising experiments. One
of its most popular programs, barn-
dance music, was sponsored by two
Norfolk businesses: the Meridian Qil
Company and Moxley Battery.5

The Norfolk station produced a vari-
ety of new programs in 1925. A daily
hospital report of patient conditions —
broadcast on Stefan’s noonday program
— premiered in March. Nearly forty-four
years later, the dissemination of patient
information, limited to arrivals and dis-
missals in 1968, ended at Norfolk hospi-
tals. Youngsters from Elgin, Nebraska,
performed a 1925 Mother’s Day concert
in the WJAG studio, which attracted 250
persons huddled near radios at the Elgin
community building. A new service, for
out-oftown travelers camped at a Nor-
folk park, was added to the WIJAG pro-
gram roster: radio messages of their safe
arrival sent to long-distance friends and
relatives. Art Breyer announced WIJAG's
first studio wedding in 1925. W. L.
Johnson and Sadie Mahin of Meadow
Grove, Nebraska, exchanged broadcast
marital vows in August.’!

Announcements of area newborns
premiered on WJAG in 1926. Mrs. E. B.
Young, who conducted a weekly reli-

gious program on WJAG, began trans-
mitting weekly greetings to parents and
infants in January. A few weeks later the
“Cradle Roll,” a daily feature, premiered
on WJAG’s noon show. While Stefan
used the radio family bell to call listen-
ers to the mythical dinner table, another
bell was introduced to greet local in-
fants. The parents of Andy Peterson,
Finnish immigrants who trekked to Wis-
consin in the 1860s, brought the latter
bell to Nebraska in 1872. Peterson
loaned the “old Viking cow bell” to
Stefan. The Wisner, Nebraska, resident
and businessman quipped that grass-
hoppers chewed their way through a
missing section of the bell in 1874. After
a hearty ringing of the Viking cow bell,
new babies received official “Cradle
Roll” membership cards signed by
Stefan with the Printer’s Devil mark, a
fingerprint. By 1952 the station mailed
nearly 2,500 cards a year to infants in
Nebraska, South Dakota, lowa, and Kan-
sas. Upon their eighteenth birthday,
each cradle roll member received an in-
vitation to join the WJAG radio family.5
In August 1926 radio listeners voted
Fred Patzel of Madison, Nebraska, the
WIJAG champion hog caller. His loud
“whooie, whooie, whooie™ calls, sum-
moning pigs to the trough, defeated two
men and a woman, Mrs. E. C. Warner of
Warnerville, Nebraska. A month later
Patzel won the world’s hog calling title in
Omaha. In February 1933 Stefan invited
Patzel to re-create his prize-winning cry
on a Saturday noon market broadcast.
Before engineer Frank Wiedenbach
could adjust the audio feed to WIAG'’s
transmitter, the champion hog caller's
yell overpowered and destroyed $200
worth of transmission tubes, knocking
WIAG off the air for nearly five minutes.®
Three watershed events, financial,
promotional, and managerial, left their
imprints on WJAG in 1926-27. For the
first three-and-a-half years of its exist-
ence, WJAG operated largely without
advertising revenue, but the expense of
maintaining WJAG as a News supple-
mentary service since 1922 totaled thou-
sands of dollars. Karl Stefan told Norfolk
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Rotarians in 1925 the cost of building
and operating WJAG hovered near
$11,000. By 1926 Gene Huse calculated
the price of goodwill derived from the
radio operation approached $30,000. Al-
though WJAG experimented with pro-
gram sponsorships in 1924 and 1925, it
did not accept advertising on a consis-
tent basis until February 1926. The
station’s first account was the Carberry
Seed Company. Through 1927 the radio
family heard advertising pitches from
the McFayden Motor Company, Norfolk
Nursery, Norfolk Grocery, Fleming's
Pharmacy, Norfolk Cereal and Flour
Mills, Star Clothing, and the Norfolk
Livestock Sales Company.%*

By the end of World War |, North
American Hotels concluded the first stage
of construction, digging a foundation for
a new hostelry in downtown Norfolk. At
that point the company folded, leaving a
large pit at Fourth Street and Norfolk Av-
enue next to the News building. By 1920
Gene Huse and a group of Norfolk busi-
ness leaders conducted a community
fund-raising campaign to finish the five-
story facility, but a slow economy halted
work on the nearly complete building.

E. C. (Eugene) Eppley of Omaha, the
nation’s largest independent hotel opera-
tor in the mid-1920s, purchased the prop-
erty five years later to attract not only
travelers, but also conventions and ban-
quets. In December 1925 Eppley an-
nounced the addition of studio space for
WIAG in the Hotel Norfolk, whose roof
already supported the station’s transmis-
sion towers and aerials. The new studio
was situated on the mezzanine behind
large plate glass windows.

Eppley’s hotel, opened to the public
in July 1926, greeted its guests with 122
rooms, three dining areas, a coffee
shop, a barber shop, and second floor
ballroom and banquet facilities con-
structed near the WJAG studio. The
small original studio paled in compari-
son to the hotel's classy broadcast ac-
commodations. A News report de-
scribed the modern radio surroundings:

The ceiling has been decorated by the
hand of a master. . . . Velvet used as
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new transmission equipment. Perform-
ers representing nearly forty Nebraska
communities and eight announcers
from stations in Omaha, Lincoln, York,
Wayne, Council Bluffs, lowa, Yankton,
South Dakota, plus WJIAG’s Art Breyer
(assistant announcer) and Karl Stefan
(chief announcer), entered “the home
of Printer’s Devil” for appearances in
late March.®

As a prelude to expanded broadcast-
ing on WIJAG in 1927-28, the station
polled its listeners during the broadcast
celebration on the most popular forms
of entertainment. Ten News employees
sorted 30,000 to 40,000 listener re-
sponses — 500 pounds of mail. A Nor-
folk High School piano and violin re-
cital claimed the fifty-dollar first prize.
The D & H orchestra of Schuyler, Ne-
braska, finished second, and three Lin-
coln musicians from KFAB (later relo-
cated in Omaha), Gloomy Gus, Eddie,
and The Cornhusker Girl, were voted
the third most popular entertainers.®

Three years after its first broadcast in
September 1922, Stefan told local
Kiwanians that “WJAG has been heard
from coast to coast and on both the
north and southern boundaries of the
United States.” By 1926 WJAG and a
dozen other broadcasters nationwide,
including Ames, lowa (WOI), and
Laramie, Wyoming (KFBU), occupied
1110 kilocycles, which diminished the
distant reach of WJAG's signal. Stefan
observed that with “so many
radiocasting units being on the air,
WIJAG's range has been curtailed to
practically the territory served by the
Norfolk Daily News. !

To curb airwave interference, the
Federal Radio Commission (FRC) as-
signed new frequencies to WJAG and
dozens of radio stations regularly heard
in Nebraska in May 1927. The govern-
ment, the Associated Press reported,
“created a radio grave yard” for hun-
dreds of stations nationwide. Of 693 li-
censed broadcasters, 527 outlets were
assigned wavelengths between 199.9
and 300 meters. WIAG's frequency, 1110
kilocycles (270.1 meters), and transmit-

ter power, shifted to 500 watts by May
1927, was adjusted to 1350 kilocycles
(222.1 meters) with 250 watts of power.®

In a public statement WJAG attacked
the proposed frequency adjustment:
“We will do all we can to have the wave
length changed,” the announcement
read, “but if we cannot induce the radio
commission to give us a better one, we
will go off the air.” The new frequency
and power assignment, the station esti-
mated, would devastate its radio ser-
vice; a majority of area radio sets were
unable to receive 1350 kilocycles. The
Norfolk Chamber of Commerce in-
formed U.S. Senator Robert B. Howell of
Nebraska that “allocation of the wave
length given WIAG, the Norfolk Daily
News station, will work a hardship upon
the farming and grain interests of north-
east Nebraska and South Dakota. . . .
The average farm receiving set will not
tune down to 222 meters.”®

In a move that surprised station offi-
cials, the FRC quickly granted WJAG a
lower frequency in early June: 1050 kilo-
cycles (285.5 meters) with a daytime
power of 500 watts and nighttime output
of 250 watts. The station credited the in-
tervention of Senator Howell and U.S.
Representative Edgar Howard, whose
arguments of an adequate farm broad-
cast service in northeast Nebraska con-
vinced the FRC to issue the altered dial
position. By mid-June WIJAG shifted to
its new frequency %

A gradual expansion of airtime began
in 1927. In February a regular studio vo-
calist was added to the WJAG program
roster. Marjorie Beeler, the Norco Feeds
Girl, serenaded radio listeners on Thurs-
day afternoons. By March experimental
broadcasts of “dinner hour” orchestras
filtered through the airwaves. A variety of
local bands and the WJAG house orches-
tra, the Norfolk Serenaders, which per-
formed in the March marathon, ap-
peared on Saturday broadcasts. The
opening of a plush motion picture
house, Norfolk’s $300,000 Granada, was
broadcast when it premiered its first film
in April 1927. Three weeks later the
Serenaders entertained theater patrons
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in a special Red Cross benefit. After a
summer hiatus, the “dinner hour” pro-
grams returned to WJAG on a regular
schedule each Wednesday and Saturday
in September. In the last two weeks of
November, the evening programs briefly
expanded to six days a week.%

A major government hurdle pre-
vented WJAG from pursuing an ex-
tended broadcast schedule in late 1927.
By November the FRC assigned an addi-
tional Nebraska station, KMMJ, Clay
Center (licensed to Grand Island in
1939), to 1050 kilocycles, which the gov-
ernment allotted to WJAG months ear-
lier. The geographic proximity of the
two stations on an identical frequency,
causing the signals to interfere with
each other, meant both stations had to
share 1050 kilocycles: only one station
could activate its transmitter at any
given time. WJAG and KMMJ had to split
transmission hours.%

The gradual extension of longer
broadcast hours on WJAG continued in
1928. The first program heard Monday
through Saturday, Stefan’s 12:15 P.M.
news show, was the cornerstone of the
broadcast schedule. In January 1928 an
irregular schedule of brief entertain-
ment followed the noon broadcast. But
most months of that year, WJAG turned
off its transmitter for a few hours before
returning to the airwaves at 4:00 P.M. for
late afternoon entertainment and news
summaries. About an hour later, it
would sign off for another ninety min-
utes until its evening broadcast at 6:30.

For the first time WJAG no longer re-
lied solely on regularly scheduled live
performances as it had since 1922. In
1927 a $500 license was purchased from
the American Society of Composers, Au-
thors and Publishers (ASCAP), which per-
mitted WJAG to transmit recorded music.
The first scheduled phonograph show ap-
peared in November. By January 1928
regularly sponsored phonograph broad-
casts and live entertainment from the Au-
ditorium Theater appeared together on
the program roster. In May the Columbia
record hour and live organ music from
the Granada theater competed for the at-
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the FRC classified the Norfolk station as
a “limited time” broadcast facility,
which restricted WJAG's regular pro-
gram schedule to daylight hours. In De-
cember the FRC doubled WJAG's trans-
mitter power to 1,000 watts, which the
station implemented in 1929. For the
next dozen years, WJAG kept its dial po-
sition and power intact.”

After the FRC granted WIJAG the un-
limited daytime use of 1060 kilocycles
in 1928, the station turned its transmitter
on and off for three broadcasts of morn-
ing, noon, and late afternoon program-
ming. In 1926 WJAG experimented with
a moming broadcast to ascertain the
popularity of A.M. listening. The station
activated its transmission apparatus and
appealed for reception reports; in fewer
than five minutes, seventeen listeners
telephoned WJAG.

But the morning audience had to
wait another two years for a regularly
scheduled A.M. show on WJAG. In 1928
the Norfolk station added a sunrise pro-
gram: a Monday through Friday 7:00
show, with AP news, weather and road
reports, farm information, and music,
premiered in mid-November. The
“noonday program,” Stefan’s regular
broadcast of news, weather, farm mar-
kets and stock exchange quotes, kept its
traditional airtime of 12:15. A few hours
later, WIAG'’s transmission apparatus
was reactivated at 4:00 for sixty minutes
of phonograph music. Continuous after-
noon programming premiered in De-
cember 1928, which signaled a shift to
longer schedules in the next year.™

The first six years of local broadcast-
ing transformed WJAG from Gene
Huse's vision of a bulletin service to a
broadcast station that dispensed a vari-
ety of information and entertainment.
Of greatest significance in the first half-
dozen years was WJAG's gradual shift
from "hobby” status, supported by
Huse's financial contributions, to a busi-
ness that began to depend on advertis-
ing. With the construction of a modern
studio in the Hotel Norfolk and a
gradual expansion of regularly broad-
cast programming, which required addi-

tional radio staff, WJIAG's pioneer status
had begun to fade. The station’s local-
ism, guided by Karl Stefan, attracted lis-
teners and a full-time daylight frequency
from the federal government. The years
ahead, marked by Stefan’s election to
Congress in 1934, along with the Great
Depression and World War Il, would test
the mettle of the WJAG staff and its ra-
dio family.
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